IN THE INTERMEDIATE COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA No. 22-ICA-220

22-ICA-220 ICA EFiled: Feb 15 2023

03:59PM EST

Transaction ID 69158365

THOMAS A. CUMMINGS, Individually and as Executor of the Estate of Cynthia M. Cummings,

Plaintiff below, Petitioner,

VS.

Appeal from an order of the Circuit Court of Monongalia County (Civil Action No. 20-C-86)

WARD J. PAINE, MD, and, BENJAMIN KLENNERT, PA,

Defendants below, Respondents.

PETITIONER'S BRIEF

Frank E. Simmerman, Jr. (WVSB # 3403)
Chad L. Taylor (WVSB # 10564)
Frank E. Simmerman, III (WVSB # 11589)
Simmerman Law Office, PLLC
254 East Main Street
Clarksburg, West Virginia 26301
Phone: (304) 623-4900
Facsimile: (304) 623-4906

I. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- A. The Circuit Court erred in denying Petitioner's Motion to Preclude Defendants from Receiving a Pro Tanto Verdict Reduction in Amount of Plaintiff's Settlement with Nursing Home Defendants and in providing Respondents with the benefit of a dollar-for-dollar/pro tanto reduction in judgment for the amount of Petitioner's pretrial settlement with the Nursing Home Defendants insofar as:
- 1. W.Va. Code § 55-7B-9 is ambiguous and should be construed in light of its clear intent to provide for several, and not joint, liability;
 - a. W.Va. Code § 55-7B-9 is internally inconsistent
 - b. W.Va. Code § 55-7B-9 is inconsistent with W.Va. Code § 55-7-13d
 - 2. Application of W.Va. Code § 55-7B-9 as written produces an absurd and unjust result;
 - a. Granting Respondents a *pro tanto* offset offends the tort system's goal of "requiring tortfeasors to make right their wrongful acts,"
 - b. Granting Respondents a *pro tanto* offset and reduction for any fault allocated by the jury to settled parties frustrates W.Va. law which "favors and encourages the resolution of controversies by contracts of compromise and settlement rather than by litigation[.]"
 - 3. W.Va. Code § 55-7B-9 violates the certain remedy right provided by the W.Va. Constitution;
 - 4. A decision in this matter does not constitute an 'advisory opinion.'

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This a medical malpractice/negligence action stemming from Respondents' failure to provide Petitioner's late wife Cindy Cummings with adequate nursing home and medical services

while she was a resident of the Madison Center nursing facility in March and April 2019. A.R. 13, ¶ 3. Mrs. Cummings underwent a right total hip replacement procedure on March 4, 2019, at WVU Ruby Memorial Hospital. A.R. 16, ¶23. She was discharged to the Madison Center nursing facility in Morgantown, WV, on March 7, 2019, for short-term rehabilitation with the stated goal of discharging Mrs. Cummings to her home and spouse. A.R. 16, ¶ 24. Mrs. Cummings was a resident of the Madison Center nursing facility from March 7, 2019, through April 18, 2019. A.R. 14, ¶ 14. In this action, filed March 18, 2020, Petitioner alleged that the Respondents' failures with respect to infection recognition and treatment, and adherence to Mrs. Cummings' orthopedic surgeon's discharge instructions, violated applicable standards of care and resulted in an unnecessary and incurable spread of infection which caused Mrs. Cummings pain and suffering, loss of capacity to enjoy life, deterioration of her health and physical and mental condition, mental anguish/emotional distress, and loss of dignity, resulted in Mrs. Cummings having to undergo multiple additional surgeries, caused Mrs. Cummings to experience a prolonged hospital stay and continued nursing home care for the balance of her life, and ultimately resulted in Mrs. Cummings' untimely death on December 31, 2019. A.R. 20-21, ¶ 46 and 47.

Petitioner sued two groups of defendants: (1) corporate entities who owned/operated the Madison Center nursing facility (referred to herein as the "Nursing Home Defendants": 161 Bakers Ridge Road Operations, LLC, d/b/a Madison Center, and Genesis Healthcare, LLC)¹, and (2) the medical professionals in charge of patient care at the Madison Center (attending physician Dr. Ward Paine, MD, and his physician's assistant Benjamin Klennert – collectively referred to herein as the "Respondents"). A.R. 12. As a result of mediation conducted on August 12, 2021,

⁻

¹ Other corporate entities – Genesis Healthcare Corporation and Genesis Healthcare Holding Company I, Inc. – were also named as defendants initially, but were voluntarily dismissed by stipulation pursuant to W.Va. Rule of Civil Procedure 41(a)(1)(ii) filed May 8, 2020. A.R. 2.

the Nursing Home Defendants reached a confidential settlement with Plaintiff which was ultimately approved by the Court (resulting in the dismissal of the Nursing Home Defendants, with prejudice) on February 17, 2022. A.R. 97-102.

Petitioner then proceeded to try his claims against the remaining, non-settling defendants – the Respondents - before a Monongalia County jury on February 22-25, and March 1-2, 2022 (Trial transcript found at A.R. 103-1070). On March 2, 2022, the jury returned the verdict finding: (1) Respondents breached the accepted standard of care; (2) Respondents' breach of the accepted standard of care caused and/or contributed to the pre-death injuries and damages of Cindy Cummings; (3) Respondents were each 45% at fault for Mrs. Cummings' pre-death injuries/damages, and Petitioner was 10% at fault; and (4) awarded Petitioner \$250,000 for "Cindy Cummings' pre-death pain, suffering, loss of capacity to enjoy life, loss of dignity, and/or mental anguish/emotional distress." A.R. 1263-1265. The settled Nursing Home Defendants appeared on the verdict form for an allocation of fault, but the jury assigned no fault to them. A.R. 1264.

In the days following trial, the parties submitted competing proposed Judgment Orders (Respondents' proposed Judgment Order: A.R. 1165-1169; Petitioner's proposed Judgment Order: A.R. 1172-1176). Respondents' proposed Order gave them the benefit of a *pro tanto* (i.e. dollar-for-dollar) reduction for the amount of Petitioner's pretrial settlement with the Nursing Home Defendants (leaving Pl. with a judgment of merely \$11,250) – A.R. 1165-1169; Petitioner's proposed Judgment Order did not (leaving Petitioner with a judgment of \$225,000) – A.R. 1172-1176.

Post-trial, Petitioner timely filed a Motion to Preclude Defendants from Receiving a Pro Tanto Verdict Reduction in Amount of Plaintiff's Settlement with Nursing Home Defendants ("Motion to Preclude Offset") – A.R. 1071-1088, which was heard on August 22, 2022, and

September 7, 2022 (hearing transcripts found at A.R. 1177-1221, and A.R. 1222-1262, respectively). Ultimately, by *Judgment Order* and *Order Denying Plaintiffs Motions* entered October 15, 2022, the Circuit Court denied Petitioner's Motion to Preclude Offset and provided Respondents with a *pro tanto* offset/reduction in the amount of Petitioner's pretrial settlement with the Nursing Home Defendants. A.R. 1266-1271 and A.R. 1272-1286.

Through this appeal, Petitioner seeks reversal of the Circuit Court's denial of his Motion to Preclude Offset, and entry of a Judgment Order in his favor in the amount of \$225,000 (i.e. with no *pro tanto* offset/reduction for the amount of Petitioner's pretrial settlement with the Nursing Home Defendants)².

III. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Petitioner believes this appeal presents the appellate Courts of this state with an issue of first impression: the validity of W.Va. Code § 55-7B-9³, and specifically, its purported *pro tanto* (i.e. dollar-for-dollar) and concurrent *pro rata*/proportionate share verdict reduction methods. Since 2016, W.Va. Code § 55-7B-9(b) has required the trier of fact in multiple defendant medical malpractice actions "in assessing percentages of fault, [to] consider the fault of all alleged parties, *including the fault of any person who has settled a claim with the plaintiff arising out of the same medical injury." Emphasis added.* Procedurally, this means that parties with whom a plaintiff has settled appear on the verdict form with non-settled defendants still in the case, for an allocation of fault.

In the instant case, pursuant to W.Va. Code § 55-7B-9(b), settled parties, Respondents, and Petitioner, all appeared on the verdict form and the jury assigned fault as it deemed appropriate –

² Such revised judgment is calculated by reducing the jury's \$250,000 verdict by the 10% which the jury found Petitioner to be at fault.

³ W.Va. Code § 55-7B-9 is a provision within the West Virginia Medical Professional Liability Act - §§ 55-7B-1, *et seq.*

with the jury assigning no fault to the settled parties (the Nursing Home Defendants). Nonetheless, in entering the Judgment Order for this trial, the Circuit Court reduced the jury's verdict by the amount of Petitioner's pretrial settlement with the Nursing Home Defendants, pursuant to the language of W.Va. Code § 55-7B-9(d).

On appeal, Petitioner submits that (1) W.Va. Code § 55-7B-9 is ambiguous because of the internally inconsistent provisions of subsections (b) and (d) and should be construed to avoid a potential double reduction of a plaintiff's verdict; (2) W.Va. Code § 55-7B-9 is inconsistent and should be read in *pari materia* with W.Va. Code § 55-7-13d (several liability statute); (3) a literal construction of W.Va. Code § 55-7B-9 produces an absurd and unjust result, and thus, it must be construed so as to avoid the absurd/unjust result; (4) W.Va. Code § 55-7B-9 is unconstitutional because it violates the certain remedy right prescribed by W.Va. Const. art. III, § 17; and (5) contrary to the Circuit Court's finding, a decision concerning the viability of W.Va. Code § 55-7B-9 in this matter does not constitute an advisory opinion.

For these reasons, Petitioner requests that this Court reverse the Circuit Court's denial of Petitioner's *Motion to Preclude Defendants from Receiving a Pro Tanto Verdict Reduction*, and direct the Circuit Court to enter a Judgement Order which does not reduce the jury's damage award to Petitioner by the amount of his pre-trial settlement with the Nursing Home Defendants.

IV. STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION

Pursuant to the criteria set forth in West Virginia Rules of Appellate Procedure 18 and 20, Petitioner requests a Rule 20 argument. Such argument is warranted because, to Petitioner's knowledge, this appeal involves issues of first impression, involves issues of fundamental public importance, and involves constitutional questions regarding the validity and interpretation of a statute.

V. <u>ARGUMENT</u>

A. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN DENYING PETITIONER'S MOTION TO PRECLUDE DEFENDANTS FROM RECEIVING A PRO TANTO VERDICT REDUCTION IN AMOUNT OF PLAINTIFF'S SETTLEMENT WITH NURSING HOME DEFENDANTS AND IN PROVIDING RESPONDENTS WITH THE BENEFIT OF A DOLLAR-FOR-DOLLAR/PRO TANTO REDUCTION IN JUDGMENT FOR THE AMOUNT OF PETITIONER'S PRETRIAL SETTLEMENT WITH THE NURSING HOME DEFENDANTS.

1. Standard of Review.

The W.Va. Supreme Court has instructed that "[i]t is well established in this Court's jurisprudence that '[w]here the issue on an appeal from the circuit court is clearly a question of law or involving an interpretation of a statute, we apply a *de novo* standard of review." *Quicken Loans, Inc. v. Walters*, 239 W.Va. 494, 498, 801 S.E.2d 509, 513 (2017), quoting Syl. Pt. 1, *Chrystal R.L. v. Charlie A.L.*, 194 W.Va. 138, 459 S.E.2d 415 (1995). *See also* Syl. Pt. 1, *Appalachian Power Co. v. State Tax Dep't of West Virginia*, 195 W.Va. 573, 466 S.E.2d 424 (1995)("Interpreting a statute or an administrative rule or regulation presents a purely legal question subject to *de novo* review."). Similarly, "[c]onstitutional challenges relating to a statute are reviewed pursuant to a *de novo* standard of review." *Morris v. Crown Equip. Corp.*, 219 W.Va. 347, 352, 633 S.E.2d 292, 297 (2006).

2. The statute at issue.

This appeal challenges the Judgement Order entered by the Circuit Court (A.R. 1266), and its attendant denial of Petitioner's Motion to Preclude Offset (A.R. 1272). More specifically, the Circuit Court erred in granting Respondents the benefit of a *pro tanto* (i.e. dollar-for-dollar) reduction of the jury's verdict amount for the value of Petitioner's pre-trial settlement with the Nursing Home Defendants.⁴ The issue on appeal is the interpretation and application of W.Va.

⁴ Pursuant to Petitioner's settlement agreement with the Nursing Home Defendants, the precise amount of Petitioner's settlement is confidential and thus not expressly identified in this brief. The Order approving

Code § 55-7B-9 of the Medical Professional Liability Act (MPLA), titled "Several liability."

W.Va. Code § 55-7B-9 states in relevant part that:

- (b) The trier of fact shall, in assessing percentages of fault, consider the fault of all alleged parties, including the fault of any person who has settled a claim with the plaintiff arising out of the same medical injury.
- (c) If the trier of fact renders a verdict for the plaintiff, the court shall enter judgment of several, but not joint, liability against each defendant in accordance with the percentage of fault attributed to the defendant by the trier of fact.
- (d) To determine the amount of judgment to be entered against each defendant, the court shall first, after adjusting the verdict as proved in section nine a [§ 55-7B-9a] of this article, reduce the adjusted verdict by the amount of any pre-verdict settlement arising out of the same medical injury. The court shall then, with regard to each defendant, multiply the total amount of damages remaining, with prejudgment interest recoverable by the plaintiff, by the percentage of fault attributed to each defendant by the trier of fact. The resulting amount of damages, together with any post-judgment interest accrued, shall be the maximum recoverable against the defendant. . .

Emphasis added.

Pursuant to subsection (b) of this statute – requiring the trier of fact to "consider the fault of all alleged parties", including those who settled with the plaintiff pre-verdict, the Nursing Home Defendants appeared on the verdict form for an allocation of fault. A.R. 1268. Though the jury assigned no fault to the Nursing Home Defendants, they were free to assign fault to them pursuant to W.Va. Code § 55-7B-9(b). The jury could have found the Nursing Home Defendants 30%, 40%, 50%, or more at fault. Point in fact, the jury even surprisingly allocated 10% fault to Petitioner (a loving husband with no medical training).⁵

Although the jury was tasked with assigning fault among all parties – including the Nursing

Petitioner's confidential settlement with the Nursing Home Defendants was filed under seal by the Circuit Court, and references to the amount of Petitioner's settlement amount are designated as confidential (not for public access) in the appendix record submitted with this brief.

⁵ Petitioner appeared on the verdict form pursuant to W.Va. Code § 55-7B-9(a)(4) requiring the jury to make finding as to "[t]he percentage of fault, if any, attributable to each plaintiff."

Home Defendants who were dismissed from this action pre-trial - pursuant to subsection (d), the Circuit Court nonetheless reduced the jury's \$250,000 verdict by the full amount of Petitioner's settlement with the Nursing Home Defendants. A.R. 1269-70.

3. W.Va. Code § 55-7B-9 is ambiguous and should be construed in light of its clear intent to provide for several, and not joint, liability.⁶

a. Internal inconsistency.

Petitioner submits that subsections (b) and (d) of § 55-7B-9 are internally inconsistent and conflicting (i.e. the trier of fact shall consider the fault of any person who has settled a claim with the plaintiff arising out of the same medical injury – vs. – the verdict shall be reduced by the amount of any pre-verdict settlement arising out of the same medical injury), and when considered together, ambiguous. Most basically, while each method has been utilized by courts to adjust verdicts, Petitioner is aware of no court decision permitting *both* methods to be used concurrently among non-joint tortfeasors which has passed scrutiny. An ambiguous statute may be interpreted by the Court. *See e.g.* Syl. Pt. 1, *Ohio County Comm'n v. Manchin*, 171 W.Va. 552, 301 S.E.2d 183 (1983)("Judicial interpretation of a statute is warranted only if the statute is ambiguous and the initial step in such interpretative inquiry is to ascertain the legislative intent."); Syl. Pt. 1 *Farley v. Buckalew*, 186 W.Va. 693, 414 S.E.2d 454 (1992)("A statute that is ambiguous must be construed before it can be applied.").

W.Va. Code § 55-7B-9 is titled "several liability", and further, subsection (c) states that judgment shall be "several, but not joint" against the defendants in accordance with the percentage

⁶ Such issue was raised before the Circuit Court via Petitioner's Motion to Preclude Offset (A.R. 1073), and Reply in support thereof (A.R. 1146), and addressed by the Circuit Court's Order Denying Plaintiff's Motions (A.R. 1274).

⁷ The W.Va. Supreme Court has held that "[i]n construing an ambiguity in a statute, this Court will examine the title to the Act of the Legislature as a means of ascertaining the legislative intent, and the overall purpose of the legislation." Syl. Pt. 2, *Huntington v. State Water Comm'n*, 135 W.Va. 568, 64 S.E.2d 225 (1951).

of fault attributed to the defendant by the jury. *Emphasis added*. Accordingly, it is clear that the non-settling Respondents are not to be considered joint tortfeasors with the settled Nursing Home Defendants. Therefore, why would W.Va. Code § 55-7B-9 require the jury to allocate fault among "all alleged parties" *and* direct the trial court to reduce the amount of a plaintiff's verdict by the amount of plaintiff's pre-verdict settlement?

Our Supreme Court has opined that when the jury can apportion damages, a verdict set-off for prior settlements is not appropriate. *See Johnson by Johnson v. General Motors Corp.*, 190 W.Va. 236, 241, 438 S.E.2d 28, 33 (1993)(An automobile accident case involving the 'crashworthiness doctrine' wherein the W.Va. Supreme Court held: ". . . if the jury can apportion the damages, then the injury was divisible and a set-off is not appropriate. However, if the jury is unable to apportion the damages, then the injury is indivisible and since the tortfeasors will then be jointly and severally liable, a set-off is appropriate.").

Historically, a verdict credit or offset for the amount of pretrial settlements was utilized to ensure that plaintiffs did not receive a double recovery for one wrong or injury. *E.g.* Syl. Pt. 1, *Thornton v. Charleston Area Medical Center*, 158 W.Va. 504, 213 S.E.2d 102 (1975)("At common law, an injured party may have only one full recovery, and complete satisfaction from any tortfeasor is satisfaction of the total damages suffered."). "The reason for permitting the credit [for a plaintiff's pre-verdict settlement with a joint tortfeasor] is that **joint tortfeasors** are **jointly and severally liable** to the plaintiff so that a payment by one operates as a *pro tanto* satisfaction for all." *Emphasis added*, FN3, *Groves v. Compton*, 167 W.Va. 873, 877, 280 S.E.2d 708 (1981), citing *New River & Pocahontas Consolidated Coal Company v. Eary*, 115 W.Va. 46, 174 S.E. 573 (1934). The concept of a verdict offset for the amount of a plaintiff's prior settlement with a joint tortfeasor is contrary to the clear intent of the W.Va. MPLA which expressly provides that medical

malpractice defendants are *severally*, *not jointly*, liable. W.Va. Code § 55-7B-9(c). Essentially, if medical malpractice defendants are not subject to joint liability, then a *pro tanto* settlement credit is inappropriate.

The U.S. Supreme Court has considered whether a pro tanto verdict reduction for a prior settlement or a proportionate share approach is more appropriate. See McDermott, Inc. v. Amclyde, 511 U.S. 202 (1994). McDermott involved a construction accident and subsequent admiralty claim against multiple defendants. Plaintiff settled with some of the defendants pretrial, and then tried his claims against the remaining defendants. At trial, the jury allocated fault among the non-settled defendants, as well as the settled parties. The issue before the Supreme Court was whether the liability of the non-settling defendants should have been calculated by the jury's allocation of proportionate responsibility (i.e. allocation of fault), or by giving the non-settling defendants a credit for the dollar amount of plaintiff's pretrial settlement with the settled parties. The Fifth Circuit Court of Appeals had given the non-settling defendants a "double credit" (i.e. double reduction of plaintiff's verdict) by reducing plaintiff's damages by the percentage of fault found against him and the settled parties, and then also applying a full pro tanto dollar-for-dollar reduction to the verdict in the amount of plaintiff's pretrial settlement. Id. at 211. The Supreme Court reversed the Court of Appeals and held that the proportionate share approach was the superior method. Id. at 204, 217.

In considering the appropriate method of calculating an offset for plaintiff's pretrial settlement, the *McDermott* Court considered its precedent, promotion of settlement, and judicial economy. *Id.* at 211. Respondents in *McDermott* argued that the proportionate share approach would violate the "one satisfaction rule" (i.e. that a plaintiff is entitled to one, but only one, full recovery of damages for a single injury). The *McDermott* Court opined that even if the

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