IN THE INTERMEDIATE COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

Thomas A. Cummings, Plaintiff Below, Petitioner

ICA EFiled: Mar 31 2023 12:29PM EDT

Transaction ID 69706093

vs.) No. 22-ICA-220

Ward J. Paine, MD, and Benjamin Klennert, P.A., Defendants Below, Respondents

RESPONDENTS' BRIEF

Patrick S. Casey (WVSB #668) Ryan P. Orth (WVSB #13029) CASEY & CHAPMAN, PLLC 1140 Chapline Street Wheeling, WV 26003 (304) 231-2405 (866) 296-2591 (fax) pscasey@cclawpllc.com rporth@cclawpllc.com Counsel for Respondents Ward J. Paine, M.D., and Benjamin Klennert, P.A.

I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Pursuant to W. Va. R. App. P. 10(d), for Respondents' Brief, "no statement of the case need be made beyond what may be deemed necessary in correcting any inaccuracy or omission in the petitioner's brief'. As Petitioner's recitation of the relevant facts appears to be accurate, Respondents' statement of the case will be limited to the following. While Petitioner accurately provides that "[t]he settled Nursing Home Defendants appeared on the verdict form for an allocation of fault, but the jury assigned no fault to them', such statement is lacking the necessary context as to why the jury likely made such finding. Petitioner's Brief at p. 3 (italics in original). Notably, the Circuit Court prevented Respondents from offering any evidence whatsoever regarding the fault of the Nursing Home Defendants. A.R. 706-715. Thus, while the Nursing Home Defendants appeared on the verdict form, the Circuit Court did not permit the necessary evidence to be admitted in order to allow the jury to properly consider and allocate fault. While Respondents did not pursue this issue on appeal given the favorable outcome of the trial, this distinction is pertinent to the arguments set forth by Petitioner.

II. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Petitioner is challenging the Circuit Court's *Judgment Order* (A.R. 1266-1271) and *Order Denying Plaintiff's Motions* (A.R. 1272-1286), and, as before the Circuit Court, Petitioner urges the Court to turn a blind eye to the clear and unambiguous mandates of the West Virginia Medical Professional Liability Act, W. Va. Code § 55-7B-1, *et seq*. (hereinafter "MPLA"), and to deny Respondents the mandatory post-verdict adjustments to which they are entitled to under the MPLA. The crux of Petitioner's appeal is W. Va. Code § 55-7B-9, which addresses allocation of fault, including to settled parties in a matter involving multiple defendants, and provides a basic formula for post-verdict reductions based upon the amount of any pre-verdict settlements and the

allocation of fault to the alleged parties. Petitioner asserts a laundry list of challenges to W. Va. Code § 55-7B-9, including (1) that it is ambiguous and should be construed to provide several and not joint liability, (2) that its application produces and absurd and unjust result, and (3) that it violates the certain remedy right provided by the West Virginia Constitution.

To the contrary, W. Va. Code § 55-7B-9 is decisively clear. In fact, the Circuit Court concluded that to rule otherwise "would be a blatant disregard of my oath". A.R. 1225. W. Va. Code § 55-7B-9(b) tasks the jury with assessing percentages of fault on the verdict form to all alleged parties to the action, including any settled parties. Further, W. Va. Code § 55-7B-9(d) sets forth a basic formula for post-verdict reductions based upon any pre-verdict settlements and the allocation of fault assigned to the settling parties. First, the verdict is reduced by the amount of any pre-verdict settlements, and then that adjusted verdict amount is reduced further based upon the allocation of fault assigned to the parties to reach the final verdict amount, e.g., (1) verdict – pre-verdict settlement = adjusted verdict amount; (2) percentage of fault allocated to Respondents x adjusted verdict amount = final verdict amount. It is crystal clear under the MPLA that Respondents are entitled to an offset based upon (1) the amount of Petitioner's pre-verdict settlement with the Nursing Home Defendants and (2) based upon the allocation of fault assigned to the parties.

Indeed, having found W. Va. Code § 55-7B-9 to be clear and unambiguous, and not in conflict with W. Va. Code § 55-7-13d, the Circuit Court did not need to address, and indeed, could not address Petitioner's remaining equitable arguments, as addressing such arguments would

_

¹ In view of the Court's March 14, 2023, *Order* regarding confidentiality of certain portions of the record, application of this formula to the present matter is set forth in *Response on Behalf of Defendants Ward J. Paine, M.D., and Benjamin Klennert, P.A., in Opposition to "Plaintiff's Motion to Preclude Defendants From Receiving a Pro Tanto Verdict Reduction in Amount of Plaintiff's Settlement With Nursing Home Defendants". A.R. 1092.*

amount to an advisory opinion because Petitioner was not subjected to a so-called double reduction. Rather, the verdict was only reduced by the amount of the pre-verdict settlement and by the percentage of fault allocated to Petitioner. However, even if the Circuit Court had addressed Petitioner's remaining equitable arguments, such arguments are not compelling, as discussed herein.

Respondents respectfully request that the Court affirm the Circuit Court's holding for the reasons set forth herein, as well as those otherwise apparent from the record.

III. STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION

Respondents assert that oral argument is not necessary pursuant to the criteria in W. Va. R. App. P. 18(a), as the statute in question, W. Va. Code § 55-7B-9, is unequivocally clear and the facts and legal arguments are adequately presented in the briefs and record on appeal such that the decisional process would not be significantly aided by oral argument.

IV. <u>ARGUMENT</u>

A. The Circuit Court did not err in denying Petitioner's "Motion to Preclude Defendants From Receiving a Pro Tanto Verdict Reduction in Amount of Plaintiff's Settlement With Nursing Home Defendants".

1. Standard of Review.

The Supreme Court of Appeals of West Virginia has held that "[w]here the issue on an appeal from the circuit court is clearly a question of law or involving an interpretation of a statute, we apply a *de novo* standard of review." *Butner v. Highlawn Mem'l Park Co.*, 247 W. Va. 479, 485, 881 S.E.2d 390, 396 (2022), quoting Syl. Pt. 1, *Chrystal R.M. v. Charlie A.L.*, 194 W. Va. 138, 459 S.E.2d 416 (1995). Accordingly, a *de novo* standard of review is applicable.

2. W. Va. Code § 55-7B-9 is not ambiguous.

Consistent with the Circuit Court's holding, W. Va. Code § 55-7B-9 is not ambiguous whatsoever and must be given its full force and effect. Additionally, W. Va. Code § 55-7-13d does not override the statutory authority of the MPLA. The Circuit Court's holding must not be disturbed.

a. W. Va. Code § 55-7B-9 is not internally inconsistent.

The crux of Petitioner's appeal is W. Va. Code § 55-7B-9. As before the Circuit Court, Petitioner alleges that subsection (b) and subsection (d) of W. Va. Code § 55-7B-9 are in conflict, and, therefore, the statute is ambiguous. Specifically, Petitioner alleges that such subsections are in conflict because subsection (b) sets forth that the percentage of fault of settled parties shall be considered, while subsection (d) provides for a *pro tanto* credit for the amount of the settlement. Petitioner's position continues to be woefully misplaced, as it fails to acknowledge that **subsection** (d) specifically addresses and requires both reductions – *pro tanto* and by allocation of fault. W. Va. Code § 55-7B-9 provides, in pertinent part:

- (b) The trier of fact **shall**, in assessing percentages of fault, consider the fault of all alleged parties, **including the fault of any person who has settled a claim with the plaintiff arising out of the same medical injury**.
- (c) If the trier of fact renders a verdict for the plaintiff, the court shall enter judgment of several but not joint liability against each defendant in accordance with the percentage of fault attributed to the defendant by the trier of fact.
- (d) To determine the amount of judgment to be entered against each defendant, the court shall first, after adjusting the verdict as provided in section nine-a of this article, reduce the adjusted verdict by the amount of any pre-verdict settlement arising out of the same medical injury. The Court shall then, with regard to each defendant, multiply the total amount of damages remaining, with prejudgment interest recoverable by the plaintiff, by the percentage of fault attributed to each defendant by the trier of fact. The resulting amount of damages, together with any post-judgment interest accrued, shall be the maximum recoverable against the defendant. (emphasis added)

Thus, contrary to Petitioner's contentions, subsections (b) and (d) are not in conflict, as subsection (d) clearly contemplates and applies both forms of verdict reductions in MPLA actions. Conveniently, Petitioner continues to fail to address the latter half of subsection (d) pertaining to the dollar-for-dollar credit. Moreover, the statutory intent to apply both reductions is crystal clear, and it is apparent that the impacts of mandating both reductions were considered, including in situations like the present case where the verdict is reduced substantially. The post-verdict reductions align with the statutory purpose of the MPLA, which *inter alia* balances the interests of claimants and the medical practitioners of the State.

The Circuit Court appropriately followed and applied the mandates of W. Va. Code § 55-7B-9, holding "its text to be clear and unambiguous." A.R. 1276. The Supreme Court of Appeals of West Virginia has stated that "[a] statutory provision which is clear and unambiguous and plainly expresses the legislative intent will not be interpreted by the courts but will be given full force and effect." Syl. Pt. 4, *Daily Gazette Co. v. W. Virginia Dev. Off.*, 206 W. Va. 51, 521 S.E.2d 543 (1999). W. Va. Code § 55-7B-9 is decisively clear and, contrary to Petitioner's assertions, lacks any ambiguity whatsoever. Indeed, W. Va. Code § 55-7B-9(d) provides a basic formula that must be followed by the Circuit Court: (1) verdict – pre-verdict settlement = adjusted verdict amount; (2) percentage of fault allocated to Respondents X adjusted verdict amount = final verdict amount. The Circuit Court appropriately applied the unambiguous mandates of the MPLA.

Notably, there was not a "double reduction" of any sort in this matter as the jury did not apportion any fault to the settled Nursing Home Defendants and the verdict was only reduced by the amount of the pre-verdict settlement and the fault allocated to Petitioner. Petitioner's arguments in this regard are merely hypothetical. Rather, Petitioner seeks for the Court to

invalidate W. Va. Code § 55-7B-9 and hold that only the allocation of fault reduction should apply, as that would result in a larger recovery for Petitioner.

With ambiguity lacking within the MPLA, Petitioner searches outside of the MPLA in his attempts to circumvent the statutory requirements of W. Va. Code § 55-7B-9, disregarding the unique nature of the MPLA. Petitioner goes as far as to indicate that he "is aware of no court decision permitting both methods to be used concurrently"; however, the statutory mandates of the MPLA are crystal clear requiring both reductions. Petitioner's Brief at p. 8. Critically, the case law cited by Petitioner is **not** specific to MPLA actions (or comparable actions from other jurisdictions), and consists largely of non-mandatory, out-of-state authority or dissents. While Petitioner's arguments in this regard are not compelling in view of the clear and non-ambiguous nature of the statute, Respondents must address the two cases discussed at length by Petitioner.

First, Petitioner cites extensively to *McDermott, Inc. v. Amclyde*, 511 U.S. 202 (1994), an admiralty action before the United States Supreme Court arising out of the Southern District of Texas, wherein a crane owner sued manufacturers seeking damages regarding a crane accident and where the Supreme Court found that the proportionate share reduction should apply. However, *McDermott* is clearly distinguishable as (1) it is an out-of-state matter arising out of Texas; (2) it involves admiralty claims and does not involve any medical malpractice claims; and (3) there was no statutory authority, such as W. Va. Code § 55-7B-9 of the MPLA, expressly providing for both a dollar-for-dollar credit as well as a reduction based upon allocation of fault.

Next, Petitioner references at length *Krieser v. Hobbs*, 166 F.3d 736 (5th Cir. 1999), a medical malpractice action before the United States Court of Appeals for the Fifth Circuit arising out of the Northern District of Mississippi, wherein the Fifth Circuit held that a non-settling defendant is not entitled to a dollar-for-dollar credit for the settlement amount, but instead is only

responsible for the percentage of fault allocated to it. Likewise, *Krieser* is readily distinguishable from the current matter as (1) it is an out-of-state matter arising originally out of the Northern District of Mississippi, and (2) while *Krieser* is a medical malpractice action where the Fifth Circuit determined what method of reduction to apply with regard to a pre-verdict settlement, critically, there was no statutory authority, such as W. Va. Code § 55-7B-9 of the MPLA, expressly providing for both a dollar-for-dollar credit as well as a reduction based upon allocation of fault.

The out-of-state authority relied upon by Petitioner is simply not compelling because whether other jurisdiction apply **either** a dollar-for-dollar credit for pre-verdict settlement amounts or a proportionate share approach based upon the jury's allocation of fault in **non-MPLA** matters is irrelevant, because, here, W. Va. Code § 55-7B-9 specifically requires that both reductions be applied.

Accordingly, W. Va. Code § 55-7B-9 is not internally inconsistent.

b. W. Va. Code § 55-7B-9 is not inconsistent with W. Va. Code § 55-7B-13d.

Next, Petitioner contends that the State's several liability statute, W. Va. Code § 55-7-13d, should trump the mandates of the MPLA, specifically W. Va. Code § 55-7B-9. W. Va. Code § 55-7-13d(a)(3) provides:

In all instances where a nonparty is assessed a percentage of fault, any recovery by a plaintiff shall be reduced in proportion to the percentage of fault chargeable to such nonparty. Where a plaintiff has settled with a party or nonparty before verdict, that plaintiff's recovery will be reduced in proportion to the percentage of fault assigned to the settling party or nonparty, rather than by the amount of the nonparty's or party's settlement.

Petitioner suggests that this statute takes precedence over the statutory reductions set forth in W. Va. Code § 55-7B-9. Petitioner's position is misplaced.

Significantly, the legislature had the opportunity to revise W. Va. Code § 55-7B-9 in its 2016 revision following the enactment of W. Va. Code § 55-7-13d in 2015, but no such revisions were made. Indeed, the Circuit Court provided:

Analysis of Plaintiff's argument reveals that W. Va. Code § 55-7-13d was enacted in 2015, while W. Va. Code § 55-7B-9, the MPLA's several liability statute, was last modified in 2016. Thus, the legislature had an opportunity to revise W. Va. Code § 55-7B-9 in view of W. Va. Code § 55-7-13d and made the conscious decision to keep both the *pro tanto* reduction and the reduction based upon allocation of fault in place for MPLA actions.

A.R. 1278.

Further, Petitioner confoundingly asserts that when the two statutes are read together that "it is clear that the legislature intended for the Petitioner's recovery to be reduced in proportion of the percentage of fault assigned to the Nursing Home Defendants, and not by a *pro tanto*/dollar-for-dollar offset." Petitioner's Brief at p. 16. The opposite is true, as the pertinent part of W. Va. Code § 55-7B-9(d), is unequivocal that both offsets shall be applied:

[T]he court **shall first** . . . reduce the adjusted verdict by the amount of any preverdict settlement arising out of the same medical injury. The court **shall then**, with regard to each defendant, multiply the total amount of damages remaining, with prejudgment interest recoverable by the plaintiff, by the percentage of fault attributed to each defendant by the trier of fact. The resulting amount of damages, together with any post-judgment interest accrued, shall be the maximum recoverable against the defendant. (emphasis added)

Accordingly, W. Va. Code § 55-7B-9 is clear and does not need to be considered in concert with the more general statute, W. Va. Code § 55-7-13d.

Petitioner relies upon Justice Armistead's **dissenting opinion** in the 2021 memorandum decision, *State ex rel. Chalifoux v. Cramer*, 2021 WL 2420196 (W. Va. June 14, 2021). As a memorandum opinion and a dissent, the *Chalifoux* decision is not controlling authority. *See* Syl. Pt. 5, *State v. McKinley*, 234 W. Va. 143, 764 S.E.2d 303 (2014) ("While memorandum decisions

may be cited as legal authority, and are legal precedent, their value as precedent is necessarily more limited"). Further, *Chalifoux* is readily distinguishable.

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